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Introduction

M _ ThlS |s once agam one of those matters with a long and chequered history.
The dlspute arose from a contention by the individual first respondents
(referr_g—:-d,to in this judgment collectively as ‘the individual respondents’) that
the apbiicant had committed an unfair labour practice in not promoting them
pursuant to a regrading of their positions. The dispute was referred to the
CCMA (the fourth respondent) as far back as 1 March 2011, and came before
this Court on 6 August 2013 in respect of a ruling on a preliminary
Jurisdictional issue made in the CCMA, dismissing the case of the individual
respondents. Léltie J made an order on 15 Qctober 2014 in terms of which the
matter was remitted back to the CCMA, for determination whether the dispute
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was referred to the CCMA out of time in the first instance, and whether the

CCMA had jurisdiction to entertain the dispute.

Pursuant to this order by Lallie J, the matter came before the second
respondent as arbitrator, in East London, on 26 January 2015. The second
respondent was called on to decide whether the unfair labour practice dispute
had been referred to the CCMA in time, and whether the CCMA had
jurisdiction to consider the dispute, considering its true nature. In an award
dated 10 February 2015, the second respondent answered{tfhe issue whether
the dispute was referred to the CCMA in time in the aﬁiﬁnattve and directed
that the dispute be set down for arbitration, wrthou icondonatlon being

required. The second respondent further directed: that\the true nature of the

dispute be decided af the arbitration proceedlngs_ on th'" ments
o ) ; “x:__

The next arbitration proceedings then ci‘anvened Qefore the third respondent,
also in East London, on 13 Auguét and 21 and 22"September 2015. In an
arbitration award dated 12 Ogctober 2015 the third e
the dispute indeed conce Ted‘-'an unfalr 1abour practice relating to promotion,

espondent determined that

and then proceeded o decrdé the ‘merits of the dispute in favour of the

individual reSpondents The thlrd respondent determined that the applicant
committed an unfair Iabour practrce by failing to promote the individual
respondents to grade T‘I2 (save for two of them that already occupied the
grade) and “th f they be -appointed to such promoted positions. The third

respondent:-ia_ o-deCIded: that the individual respondents be paid the difference
in salary based on that change in grade back dated to 1 January 2015.

The apphcant was dissatisfied with both the in fimine determination of the
second respondent and then the ultimate arbitration award of the third
respondent, both awards now forming the subject matter of the review
application brought by the applicant. This application has been brought in
terms of Section 145 as read with Section 158(1)(g) of the Labour Relations
Act' (‘the LRA").

T Act 66 of 1995,
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The applicant's review application was filed in Court on 9 December 2015.
Considering that the second respondent’'s award was handed down on 10
February 2015, and the third respondent's award was received by the
applicant on 12 October 2015, there is an issue as to whether the review
application has been brought in time. Where it comes to the in limine ruling of
the second respondent, Section 158(1B) comes into play, and it was thus
appropriate for the applicant to have waited to first complete arbitration on the
merits, before seeking to review such ruling. Accordingly, the appropriate date
from which the 6(six} weeks’ tlme limit under Section 145(1)(3) would apply is
when the applicant received the ‘arbitration award contanrimg the outcome on
the merits, which was on 12 October 2015. Theref e the revuew apphcatlon
has been brought 15(fifteen) days out of time. The applzcant as part of its
review application, sought to apply for condonatlon ‘fer the _ate “filing of the

review application, which condonatlo; app"_atien remalned unopposed.
When the matter came before me, . condonatlon w%*s equally not placed in

. ,
gpe deia‘j%-:,;je minjmal, and the explanation

issue by the first respondents.

provided for it in the condonatlon appllcat:op eptabte Condonation is

iling of the revnew application.

accordingly granted for the ate

I will now proceed to cons der he appllcants review application, starting with
the setting out of the facts retevant te deciding all the grounds of review raised
by the appllcant in |ts rewew applicat;on in respect of both the in limine ruling

and the_'award_ oh the me‘nts

The rele\ieffl_t-;,beck& \g_dt__Jnd“‘:;_ _

7

_The ongmatmg cause giving rise to this dispute in effect arose on 1 December

2007 when the applicant implemented a new job evaluation and grading
process, ‘with the agreement of the majority unions in the applicant (which
includes NUM). This process came about as a result of the applicant
replacing its Patterson grading system with the TASK grading system,
effective 1 December 2007.

% The Section reads: ‘The Labour Court may not review any decision or ruling made during conciliation
or arbitration proceedings conducted under the auspices of the Commission or any bargaining council
in terms of the provisions of this Act before the issue in dispute has been finally determined by the
Commission or the bargaining council, as the case may be, except if the Labour Court is of the opinion
that it is just and equitable to review the decision or ruling made before the issue in dispute has been
finally determined.’
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The applicant sought to involve the representative trade unions in the
implementation of this grading process, long before the ultimate
implementation date of 1 December 2007. Negotiations were conducted in the
central bargaining forum in place at the applicant, culminating in the
conclusion of a collective agreement in October 2003, in which the unions
agreed to the implementation of the TASK grading system as a matter of
principle. The actual implementation of the TASK grading system was done

by way of the Corporate Job Evaluation Policy (‘the POIIC: “in terms of the

Policy, the grading was done only by a job evaluation commlttee on which

NUM was also represented. An individual manage’ﬂ:coluld not effect such a

ws;on had ‘the final

grading, although the general manager of the appllcable‘

say in approving the grading.

It is important to point out that in terms of the Po icy, ?h|s gradlng was specific

to a position, and not to the partlctilar empieyee oc?:":upymg that position. The

exercise, did not mean tﬁth .employee occupymg the job at the particular

time would automatlcally beﬁallocz" ed__;_the grade of the job, or for that matter be
placed in the ;ob In terms{o_tth Pollcy any appointment or promotion into a
job that had been graded stil _treqwred the employee to meet the minimum
prescrsbed requlrements for the job, and then subject to the selection and
recruntmv t poilcy of the app!icant which had to be applied. Employees were

int fact specf caIIy mformed on 25 January 2008, after implementation of
TASK that regradmg of positions would not entitle employees to automatic

: promotlons and remunerahon increases.

[10]

[11]

All fh’e}__i\r{idihidua! respondent are employed in the position of Assistant Officer
Investigation in the Risk Management Department of the Southem Region of
the Distribution business unit (division), commencing employment at different

times.

Two of the individual respondents, T J Hoyi and W G Krull, were employed
prior to the TASK regrading becoming effective on 1 December 2007.
Therefore, on 3 December 2007, following the implementation of the

regrading, these individual respondents were advised in writing that their
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position title would still be known as Assistant Officer Investigation and the

grading would be that of T9.

The other individual respondents commenced employment after the TASK
grading implementation. They were all issued with written offers of
employment for the position Assistant Officer Investigation (T9), and appointed
in such position. All the individual respondents accepted these offers of
employment, by signing the offer letters. The effective dates of appointment of

these individual respondents were respectively as follows: (1)-O Mkosana - 1

Also, and as touched on above, it appeared that‘fhe in rdual respondents
were actually from the outset dissatisfied wrth\the gradlng of therr positions.

According to the individual respondents, h'ey [ d a“lways befng doung the work

and fulfilling the duties of Inspectors Accordlng to em, their manager,
Edward Koti ('Koti’) had promlsedithat they'*‘ _ﬂou[d’;.be placed in the post of

Inspector by April 2010, corncrdlng wrth the 2010 World Cup. Considering

then the post of Inspector |

did Xist in the structure at the applicant, but this
post was not provrded for in the xrstmg structure of the Distribution division in

the Eastern Cape where the‘:-rndrwduai respondents were employed. This
post was actually trtled ‘Inspecior {Securityy, had been approved under the
TASK structure on 19 November 2009, and had a specific minimum
requrrement of a three year B degree or related qualification attached to the
posrtron On 25 November 2009 this post was formally graded in terms of
TASK. at Ievel T42. As a matter of fact, and despite what the individual

re_spondepts sald they had been promised by Koti, they had not been placed

asﬂk’inspecférs by April 2010.

In 2010, the applicant developed what was called the Generic Security
Improvement Plan (‘'SIP”), involving all its divisions, and each of the divisions
would then amend their individual structures in line with this new generic SIP
structure. In the case of the Distribution division in the Eastern Cape, in which
the individual respondents were employed, this new structure was deliberated
on at what was called the Distribution Group Forum (‘DGF’), which forum sat

on 1 December 2010 for this purpose.
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In the DGF meeting of 1 December 2010, the applicant’'s management made a
formal presentation, by way of slide show, of the new structure, which included
the sfructure of Riak Management in the Distribution division. Part of this
presentation concerned the Assistant Officer Investigation positions of the
individual respondents. It was recommended that these positions be changed
and titled “Principal Inspector’, be graded at a level T10, and that all the
Assistant Officer Investigation incumbents be simply moved into these
positions. However, these recommendations still required approval at central
level by the job grading committee and by the general maﬁager of the division,
in terms of the Policy. It is significant that all the partfesﬁ_to the DGF which
included the representative trade union, and in parhcutar N:&'M had gtven their

approval (agreement) for this recommendatlon ‘and *‘that the proposed
structure be submitted for approval on that baSlS %

,r—-,

Further, the proposed new structu[e approved in the 1 December 2010 DGF
meeting now made provision for a separate posmo;’l_ -of Investigator (Security)

at level 12. As stated abeve! this pbsltlon at that time, did not exist in the

Eastern Cape Dlstnbutlon dl s'len‘structure “All that was provided for in the
Eastern Cape Dlstrlbutlonz; VISIOI"IlStl'UC‘tUI'e at higher level than the individual
respondents’ posmons was that of: Ofﬂcer Crime Risk at level T11. But this

was not the pbsnton the mdmdual respondents were ever interested in.

\.'

Desplte aII the above and on 8 February 2011, NUM complained to the
manager nsk management about the fact that the individual respondents’
manager Kotl had given his ‘word’ that he was ‘willing to make his

: lnvestsgators T12 due to the nature of the job they are doing and their job

pref;lelcompact " Intervention was requested to resolve this. Nothing however

transplred as a result of this complaint.

The individual respondents then referred an unfair labour practice dispute
relating to promotion to the CCMA on 1 March 2011. This dispute was
disposed of by commissioner Sonamzi of the CCMA in an award dated 4
October 2011, which award was set aside by the order of Lallie J referred to
above, and the matter was remitted back to the CCMA for determination de
novo, in 2015.
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In the interim, further developments took place where it came to the individual
respondents, and their positions, between the times the dispute was initially
determined by the CCMA in October 2011, and when it went back there in
2015. Aithough the new structure was recommended and approved as
referred to above, in December 2010, a moratorium was placed on its
implementation {as well as the implementation of all the other proposed new
structures in other divisions), because of a further complete strategic review of
the applicant’s business, in the course of which certain security strategies

were changed. This process was finally only completed in 2014,

The proposed new structure of the Eastern Cape Blstnbutlon division then
went back into the DGF in November 2014 for f"' hek"
deliberation, and was also referred to a Task Group.‘:meetlng ‘in December
act of -any further proposed

consuitatlon and

2014 for a complete assessment of the:i

changes.

%
S ,
s

g

L

The new structure was finally approved by al

ul _’W PO;
th" case |n e 2010 recommendation, but now

es (including labour) on 6

itions, the situation remained

February 2015. Where lt came to S

more or less the same as W.
provided for the posmon of ‘As stant Officer Security’ instead of ‘Assistant
Officer Invest:gatlon (current pdsﬂaon) at level T10. It was determined, by
agreement, that allrlt'he current A33|stant Officer Investigation (T9) incumbents
would be placed in the ASS|stant Officer Security (T10) positons. Provision
was also sttll made for Secunty Investigator at level T12. An implementation
plan was agreed te which included a brief to the DGF on 20 February 2015,

followed by one on one consultation and placement of employees after 31

) March 2015 It must be emphasized that all this came about by way of

agjfeemer{i‘with labour representatives.

Because the Security investigator (T12) position did not exist in the Eastern
Cape Distribution division before, there was still no determination of how many
of these positons were actually needed and would be required to be filled.
This determination was left up to the region (division) itself, and needed to be
discussed and decided in the DGF in due course. Up to the date when this
matter was ultimately concluded in the CCMA in 2015, this had still not
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happened, and no actual quantum of Security Inspector (T12) positions had

been discussed, decided upon, nor approved.

Two of the individua! respondents, being Alexander and Mkosana had also
moved on in the interim, having applied for other Inspector (T12) positons
elsewhere in the applicant, in the course of normai selection and recruitment in

the applicant, and having been placed in those positions.

For the five remaining individual respondents in the Assistant Officer

Investigation positons, they were the consulted pursuant to_ he above process,

A

with the view to place them in the posrtlons of ASS[:S_’ _nt Ofﬁcer Securlty at

The test for review

[26]

| wsll flrstly, and in. short ‘summarize the proper test for review. In casu, there
are m reallty two kmd of review tests that find application, because both the

;unsdlctlona! rulmg of the second respondent and the arbitration award of the

[27]

'thlrd respondent are sought to be reviewed. As the jurisdictional ruling of the

second respondent concerns an issue of the jurisdiction of the CCMA, the
review test is different to that normally applicable to the reviewing of arbitration
awards on the merits. | will hereunder summarize both these applicable

review tests.

Where it comes to the review test applicable to the arbitration awards on the
merits, the Court in Sidumo and Another v Rustenburg Platinum Mines Ltd and
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Others,® held that the standards as contemplated by Section 33 of the
Constitution* are in essence to be blended into the review grounds in Section
145(2) of the LRA, and the Court concluded that ‘the reasonableness standard
should now suffuse s 145 of the LRA’. Where it comes the threshold test for the
reasonableness of an award, the Court said that the question to be asked was:
‘...Is the decision reached by the commissioner one that a reasonable decision-

maker could not reach?...””

Accordingly, in every instance where the constitutionalifyv'-’guffused Section

145(2)(a)(ii} is sought to be applied to substantiate a re agpplication, any

v\,

failure or error of the arbitrator relied on must Eea "‘to an unreasonable
outcome, for this failure or error to be reviewable ln my wew therefere what

the review applicant must show to exist in order to succe d Wlth ‘a review is

firstly that there is a failure or error on thi part o_ he arbltrator If this cannot
be shown to exist, that is the end of the matter But even if this failure or error
is shown to exist, the review apphcant must th;n further show that the
outcome arrived at by the arbltrator was unreasonable If the outcome arrived

at is nonetheless reasonab

end of the review apphcatlo '_;,-

short in order for the review to succeed, the
error of failure must affect the T ’sonﬁ bleness of the outcome to the extent of
rendering it unreasonable In Herholdt v Nedbank Ltd and Another® the Court

said:

-'wHI only be unreasonable if it is one that a reasonable arbitrator

'-g"?-‘.:could not reach on all the material that was before the arbitrator. Material
éi{eﬁrr{;)rs of __fact, as well as the weight and relevance to be attached to the
pé“r;i_cular facts, are not in and of themselves sufficient for an award to be set
‘asidé, but are only of consequence if their effect is to render the outcome

unreasonable.’

As to the application of the reasonableness consideration as articulated in
Herholdt, the LAC in Gold Fields Mining South Africa (Pty) Ltd (Kloof Gold

(2007) 28 ILJ 2405 (CC).

Constltutlon of the Republic of South Africa, 1996.

®|d at para 110. See also CUSA v Tao Ying Metal Industries and Others (2008) 29 ILJ 2461 (CC) at
para 134; Fidelity Cash Management Service v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration
and Others (2008) 29 ILJ 964 (LAC) at para 96.

® (2013) 34 ILJ 2795 (SCA) at para 25.
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Mine) v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and Others’

said;

‘.... in a case such as the present, where a gross irregularity in the
proceedings is alleged, the enquiry is not confined to whether the arbitrator
misconceived the nature of the proceedings, but extends to whether the result
was unreasonable, or put another way, whether the decision that the arbitrator
arrived at is one that falls in a band of decisions a reasonable decision maker

could come to on the available material.’

Accordingly, the reasonableness consideration en{wsages a determmatlon
based on all the evidence and issues before thecarbltrator”’as to vK)hether the
outcome the arbitrator arrived at can nonetheless be sUstalned as a

reasonable outcome, even if it may be for -dl?ferent reasons :or on different
i g,,_'.
grounds.® This necessitates a conSIdera{tlon bg?\the revuew_:_ ourt of the entire

‘,‘;:. N

rb:trator as ell as the issues raised by

record of the proceedings before th_

the parties before the arbitrator, "Wlth the wew ';__o establish whether this

the ouieQ © al frived at by the arbitrator. in the

material can, or cannot, sustair

end, it would only be ‘if the ouicome arrived at by the arbitrator cannot be

sustained on any grounds"' ased on‘that material, and the irregularity, failure

or error concemed | i:the oniy basas to sustain the ocutcome the arbitrator

arrived at, that the rewew appllcatlon would succeed.? In Anglo Platinum (Pty)

Lid (Bafokeng Rasemone Mme) v De Beer and Others'® it was held:

. the revsewmg court must consider the totality of evidence with a view to
:“-»._.'_detenmnmg whether the result is capable of justification. Unless the evidence
v:ewed as a whole causes the result to be unreasonable, errors of fact and the

I|ke are of no consequence and do not serve as a basis for a review.’

Tuming next to the issue of the applicable review test where it comes fo the
second respondent's jurisdictional ruling, the Court in Fidelity Cash

7 (2014) 35 ILJ 943 (LAC) at para 14. The Gold Fields judgment was followed by the LAC itself in
Monare v SA Tourism and Others (2016) 37 ILJ 384 (LAC) at para 59; Quest Flexible Staffing
Solutions (Pty) Lid (A Division of Adcorp Fulfilment Services (Ply) Ltd) v Legobate (2015) 36 ILJ 968
(LAC) at paras 15 — 17; National Union of Mineworkers and Another v Commission for Conciliation,
Med:atfon and Arbitration and Others (2015) 36 ILJ 2038 (LAC) at para 16.

See Fidelity Cash Management (supra) at para 102.

® See Campbell Scientific Africa (Ply) Ltd v Simmers and Others (2016) 37 ILJ 116 (LAC) at para 32.
1% (2015) 36 ILJ 1453 (LAC) at para 12.
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Management Service v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration

and Others'" said:

‘.... Nothing said in Sidumo means that the CCMA’s arbitration award can no
longer be reviewed on the grounds, for example, that the CCMA had no
jurisdiction in a matter or any of the other grounds specified in section 145 of
the Act. If the CCMA had no jurisdiction in a matter, the question_of the
reasonableness of its decision would not arise .... ' (emphasis added)

[32] In simple terms, where the issue to be considered on(_{__,r ;|ew is about the

jurisdiction of the CCMA, the Labour Court is entitled 1 to, if not obliged, to
n doing sof*ttgg Labour

determine the issue of jurisdiction of its own accprd‘
Court determines the issue de novo in order 1o Gle~ de: whether the

determination by the arbitrator on JUI’ISdlCtlon 1sl right

£ ] :
Starker Bop (Ply) Ltd v National Umon of Metaiworker&_ of SA, the Court
held:™

I r_qu‘ng In Zeuna-

‘The commissioner could not nal!y de ether he had jurisdiction

ohg decasmn, his. _dec:smn could be reviewed by the

p

Labour Court on dBiect%ﬁ?élm 'Q'stlmable ground ... (emphasis added)

because if he madeg

[33] In SA Rugby Players Asso ,at.'o and Others v SA Rugby (Pty) Ltd and
Others," the LAC artlculated the_ nquiry as follows:

‘The CCMA |s a cregture of statute and is not a court of law. As a general rule,
it cannot dec;de its"own jurisdiction. {t can only make a ruling for convenience.
,"Whether;__.glt h,as jurisdiction or not in a particular matter is a matter to be

decudedby the Labour Court...’

[34] | had théffepportunity to deal with this kind of review test in Trio Glass t/a The
Glass Group v Molapo NO and Others'® and said:

‘The Labour Court thus, in what can be labelled a 'jurisdictional' review of
CCMA proceedings, is in fact entitled, if not obliged, to determine the issue of
jurisdiction of its own accord. In doing so, the Labour Court is not limited only

to the accepted test of review, but can in fact determine the issue de novo in

" (supra) at para 101.
'2(1999) 20 ILJ 108 (LAC) at para 6.
3(2008) 29 /LJ 2218 (LAC) at para 40.
" (2013) 34 ILJ 2662 (LC) at para 22.
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order to decide whether the determination by the commissioner is right or

wrong.’

This ‘right or wrong' review approach has been consistently applied in a
number of judgments, in instances where the issue for determination on
review concerned the jurisdiction of an arbitrator, which judgments include
Asara Wine Estate and Hotel (Pty) Ltd v Van Rooyen and Others"®, Hickman v
Tsatsimpe NO and Others,'® Protect a Partner (Pty) Ltd v Machaba-Abiodun
and Others,"” Gubevu Security Group (Pty) Ltd v Ruggierofﬁio and Others,®
Workforce Group (Pty) Ltd v CCMA and Others'® and StareAway international

[37]

[38]

As touched on above,:..g bo e second and third respondents made

jurisdictional deternimatlons whl ) the apphcant seeks to review, and thus |

need to demde in’ terms of the appropnate review test articulated above,

whether, these determlnattons are right or wrong.

e

The proper_pomt of departure is deciding the issues of jurisdiction is
conssdermg what |s ‘contained in the pre-arbitration minute concluded between

| -the partlg_as. I that document, the individual respondents define their unfair

Eekbo___ur pféctice dispute as being founded on two issues. The first issue was
that de’épite having been appointed as assistant investigators, the individual
respondents contended that they were fuffilling the functions and duties of
investigators, from the outset. The second issue was that they were promised
to be graded as investigators by their manager (Koti), before April 2010.

1% (2012) 33 ILJ 363 (LC) at para 23.
*6(2012) 33 ILJ 1179 (LC) at para 10.
"7 (2013) 34 ILJ 392 (LC) at paras 5~6.
'8 (2012) 33 ILJ 1171 (LC) at para 14.
19 (2012) 33 /LJ 738 (LC) at para 2.

% (2013) 34 ILJ 1272 (LC) at para 21.
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Despite what is recorded by the individual respondents in the pre-arbitration
minute, the dispute referred by the individual respondents to the CCMA on 1
March 2011 reflected that the dispute purportedly arose on 15" February
2011. The referral further recorded that the employer failed to place the
employees at a grade that equalled the duties that they were doing. The later
arbitration referral dated 20 June 2011 added the issue of the promise made
to the employees to be placed at grade T12, as a further ground for alleging

unfairness.

On 29 April 2011, the applicant filed a formal apphcatlon m terrhs of Rule 31(b)
of the CCMA Rules, contending that the CCMA had no j
this matter. The applicant, in this appl:catlon m essence

sdictlon to decide

ised. two grounds
in support of this contention. The first ground -was that the dlspute was in
reality not one about a right to a promotlon but the tnd;vzdual respondents

actually only demanded to be promoted whlch was an mterest dispute. The
second ground was that the lndlwdual respondents had no right to be
promoted, which was essential for therg}to show in order to rely on an unfair

labour practice.

When the appllcants junsdaotlonat ob;ectlons were argued in the CCMA on 3
October 2011 before o,ommlssmner Sonamzi, the representative of the
:ndlwdual respondents submltted that an expectation of promotlon was created
be: appomted as: tnvestlgators at grade T12, and this manager had the
authonty o make such appointments. It was also submitted on behalf of the

|nd|wdual respondents that starting from 2009, they were actually fulfilling the

[42]

dutles and writing reports and doing the work of inspectors. Commissioner
Sonamzl, in an award dated 4 October 2011, held that the CCMA indeed did
not have jurisdiction, leading to a review application which came before Lallie

J as referred to above.

In the judgment of Lallie J, the learned Judge records that the individual
respondents sought to rely on the promise made by Koti in 2009 that the
individual respondents would be promoted to the positions of Investigators
before April 2010. The learned Judge further held that because the individual
respondents, in referring their dispute to the CCMA characterized it as a rights
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dispute, it was not for the commissioner to decide whether this case had merit,
in assuming jurisdiction. According to the learned Judge, It remained
incumbent on the commissioner to arbitrate the merits of the dispute, and if
pursuant to that arbitration it became apparent the dispute was in fact an
interest dispute, then the commissioner could decline to decide the matter.
The learned Judge then made the order on 15 October 2014, referred to
above, sending the matter back to the CCMA. The order of Lallie J however
added the consideration as to whether the matter was timeously referred to
the CCMA in the first instance, for determination by an appointed

commissioner.

In line with the order of Lallie J, the second respo\nden"! was caNed on to
decide whether the dispute was referred to the CCMA m‘time as well as the

two jurisdictional issues referred to abows respondent in his

jurisdictional ruling, deferred the two fariler ¥ (___e _;erlédlctlonal issues to

subsequent arbitration, and decid q only the condonatlon issue. The second
respondent accepted that the condenat:on |ssue was competently raised and
had to be decided. Aceérdlngﬁ to thé:

ur practlce is when the employee became

_gd respondent, the date of the

dispute in the case of an unfaa

aware of the alleged unfalr lab practice. Having so found, the second

respondent decnded that therewas ‘no exact point in time’ when the dispute
arose, and that the date when a promise was made can hardly be the date
when the dlspute aroseF The second respondent then accepted that the
alleged unfa;r labour practlce was an ongoing issue until a formal dispute was
declared and as such there was not need to apply for condonation, as the

- referra%\_was made in time.

[44]

The thlrd respondent in his award, did not separately deal with the issue of
junsdlctaon The third respondent considered the evidence relating to the
unfair labour practice as a whole, and determined, in principle, that because of
the promise made by the manager (Koti), the fact that the applicant did not
follow its own policies, and that the individual respondents had been doing the
work of Inspectors, that an unfair labour practice existed. But he made no
actual finding relating to the CCMA having jurisdiction based on the true

nature of the dispute.
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| will first consider the issue of jurisdiction relating to the nature of the dispute,
as forming part of the applicant’'s review grounds. According to the applicant,
the nature of the dispute in this case was an interest dispute, and not a rights
dispute. in my view, however, these is no substance in this ground of review

of the applicant, for two reasons, now elaborated on.

Firstly, and immediately, Lallie J in her judgment in effect disposed of this
issue. As set out above, the learned Judge specifically found in her judgment
that the dispute referred to the CCMA was a rights dlspute The iearned
Judge in essence reasoned that the issue of the nature: of the dispute couid
only be decided as part of the merits of the matter, once all the ev:dence was
in. There was no separate, and live issue, as to th" na} re of the _dispute

referred, where it came to assuming jUI‘ISdICtEOﬂ No’t\:o__' Jy* ] thls reasoning of

stands. in my view, this in itself dlspo s of a‘

Secondly, and where it éfneS"“tb deciding the issue of the CCMA accepting
le‘ISdICtIOﬂ tQ determlne‘ an unfair labour practice dispute, it is not about
whether the dlspute brought can ultimately be sustained in favour of the

employee part!es on the evidence. It is about the case, as it is pleaded. Van

.. Der Westhwzen J in Geaba v Minister for Safety and Security and Others®?

held

‘The specific term ‘jurisdiction’, which has resulted in some controversy, has
been defined as the 'power or competence of a court to hear and determine an

issue between parties'. ...."

21 (2008) 29 ILJ 2461 (CC) at para 66. Seeé also National Union of Metalworkers of SA on behalf of
Sinuko v Powertech Transformers (DPM) and Others (2014) 35 ILJ 954 (LAC) at para 17.
22 (2010) 31 ILJ 296 (CC) at para 74.
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The learned Judge added:*

[48] And in Mbatha v University of Zululand™,

‘ Jurisdiction is determined on the basis of the pleadings, as Langa CJ held in
Chirwa, and not the substantive merits of the case. .... In the event of the
court's jurisdiction being challenged at the outset (in limine), the applicant's
pleadings are the determining factor. They contain the legal basis of the claim
under which the applicant has chosen to invoke the court's competence. While
the pleadings - including in motion proceedings, not only the formal
terminology of the notice of motion, but also the contents of the supporting
affidavits - must be interpreted to establish what the 'egal basis of the
applicant’s claim is, it is not for the court to say tha.t:tha Vfacts aaseﬂed by the

applicant would also sustain another claim ...°

fta s refer?é@ﬁ"th%apsroval to the

‘Ordinarily the question of jurlsdlctlon i etern%ined with reference to the
Q..
allegations made in the plamtlff'si

whether this procedurai reqh ement has seen met, the proper approach is to

or appllcant's pleadings. .... In assessing

take the allegatlons' in the parti _ulars of claim (summons) or the founding

affidavit at face va!ue.‘f _sually those allegations are taken to be true for
purpose of deter‘h:nmng junsdic’uon The question whether a court has
jUI’ISdICthn does not depend on the substantive merits of the case. The

allegaho s whlch |f estabhshed would prove jurisdiction are sufficient.’

Jafta J "fu;;pé?*hglg??:

What emerges from Gcaba is that in determining whether this court, and for

that matter any court, has jurisdiction, one must examine the pleadings with a

view to finding 'the legal basis of the claim under which the applicant has
chosen to invoke the court's competence’. The caution that applies to this
enquiry, as was observed in Gcaba, is that one must consider whether the

facts pleaded sustain the pleaded cause of action. ...’

2 1d at para 75.

24 > (2014) 35 ILJ 349 (CC) at paras 159 and 160.
% \d at para 157.
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There are of course no formal pleadings, in the true sense of the word, in
CCMA dispute resolution proceedings. However, and for the purposes of
deciding jurisdiction to consider the dispute brought, the referral documents
can be viewed as pleadings. Added to that, what can also be considered is
the dispute as articulated in the opening address of the employee party at
arbitration®®, and any documents generated in the course of prosecuting the
dispute, such as for example correspondence, interfocutory applications, and
pre-arbitration minutes.?’” In SA Local Government Bargaining Council v Ally
NO and Another™ the Court held as follows, in applymg '
Gcaba and Mbatha:

ﬁe above dicta in

‘| shall apply the above dicta to the current proceedmg espite tﬁé fact that

clearly, a nghts:;‘dlspute ?nd a case that could, if true, constitute an unfair

i'

|abour pr tce In a’riutshell, the pleaded case is that the individual

respondents were promlsed a promotion, that they were actually working in

the prqmpted_ :_p_05|t|on, and as a result were entitied to be promoted into T12

”':'In§pect5"r;; _positions. In respect of a similarly articulated claim, the Court in

Méi‘hip_e{i v Minister of Labour”® held as follows:

‘.... Two claims are made by the appellant: ... First, the appellant's referred
dispute alleged a fact: ie, that he was already occupying a grade 11 post.

% See Fidelity Cash Management (supra) at paras 23 — 24; ZA One (Ply) Ltd t/a Naartjie Clothing v
Goldman No and Others (2013) 34 ILJ 2347 (LC) at para 61.

" See Mathibeli v Minister of Labour (2015) 36 ILJ 1215 (LAC) at para 14 and 16; City of
Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality v SA Municipal Workers Union and Others (2009) 30 ILJ 2064
{LC) at 2069G-H; Unifrans Supply Chain Solution (Pty) Limited v South African Transport and Allied
Workers Union and Another [2014] JOL 31172 (LC) at paras 9 - 11.

8 (2016) 37 ILJ 223 (LC) at para 38.
% (2015) 36 ILJ 1215 (LAC) at para 16.
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Unless that allegation of fact was proven, the appellant had no claim to more
pay. This factual allegation was not a claim of entitlement to be promoted to a
grade 11 post, which would indeed be an interest issue, but rather an
allegation that he was, as a fact, in a grade 11 post. If he failed on that alleged

fact, as he plainly did, the claim had to fail too. ....

The Court concluded:*°

[51] This exact same approach was followed in Nationg;[‘)

‘Accordingly, the view | take is that a rights issue was indeed referred by the

appellant ...’

Police Service v Potterill NO and Others®' where the o rt saic

. The substance of the dlsput pertalned te" 167 m_ployees complaint that

their posts had been regraded ;but desplte the fact that they had continued to
be employed in the same posts nd desplte the reqwrements of regulation 24,

their salaries had no;;_been sncreased In rny view this is a complaint about

H

alleged unfair conduct"'.\elatl‘ otion" of the employees. ....

And in City of Johannesburg Metropohtan Municipality v South African

Municipal Workers Un.'on*and Ol‘hers32 the Court said:

~.rig hts

-"a

‘I am th _efore satls’i{" ed that the real dispute of the respondents constitutes a

'uspute The dlspute at its core, is one of promotion. The respondents’

“":,.;:case is that the individual respondents have been upgraded, and as such, are

entltied to the implementation of such upgrade and to be paid increased

sa_l_anes accordingly. The fact that the demand is coupled with an increase in

"'salléry matters not. The increase in salary flows from the right sought to be

asserted by the respondents, which rights accrued pursuant to the 2014 ICT
grading. It equally does not matter if the assertion of right is coupled with
labelling describing it as unfair. The failure by an employer o implement a
regrading and commensurate increase in salary that employees are of right
entitled to would be unfair, per se. This kind of dispute must be subjected to
arbitration pursuant to the unfair labour practice provisions in section 186(2)(a)

3 > Id at para 19.

*1(2003) 24 ILJ 1984 (LC) at para 15.
%2 12016] JOL 36592 (LC) at paras 58 — 59.
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of the LRA. In simple terms, ... if the respondents prove the facts that their
posts were in fact regraded at superintendent level with commensurate pay
increase, they would be entited to the relief they now demand in the

proceedings before me. If not, they get nothing.

Accordingly, and because the issue in dispute in this instance is subject to

resolution by way of arbitration under the LRA ...’

Therefore, the dispute brought by the individual respondents to the CCMA was
properly founded on an unfair labour practice as conteﬁlplated by Section
186(2)(a) of the LRA. The applicant's counter j!Jl‘ISdICtlonal objectlon is
squarely founded on an argument that the aforesa1d ca:'e brought by the

individual respondents is a bad case which cannot be sus‘talned .on the facts.

This is a fundamentally wrong approach_‘__l where |t"? _omes to deciding

jurisdiction. In Makhanya v Umversn‘y o ”:'iululandsa The Court held:

{the claim anses‘j_'rom the infringement of the
common-law right to enforce a contract the
the court must deal \Mth |t'
to enforce a rlght that .“' cr’eated by the LRA, then that is the claim that the

court has before it, as & fz ct: When *he or she says that the claim is to enforce

. When a claimant says tha

at is the claim, as a fact, and

ordlngly When a claimant says that the claim is

a right denved from the Constitutton then, as a fact that is the claim. That the

clalm might be a bad clalm rs beside the point.'

In SA Local Government Bargammg Councif* the Court applied the dictum in
: follows

Makhanya a

The apphcant's claim was, as said, for enforcement of the main agreement
| aga:nst the second respondent. It does not matter, for the purposes of
‘decadmg jurisdiction, whether this claim had substance in law. Neither does it
matter whether the applicant had other options available to it. The first
respondent always had the power to answer the question whether to enforce
the main agreement, or not. The first respondent decided his jurisdiction on

the basis of the outcome of the substance of the applicant's claim, even

33 (2000) 30 /LJ 1539 (SCA) at para 71. See also SA Maritime Safety Authority v McKenzie (2010) 31
!LJ 529 (SCA) at para 8.
(supra) at para 42.
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though it is on a question of law, which in the light of the clear ratio in

Makhanya, is inappropriate and thus wrong ...’

Therefore, it was only necessary for any commissioner, in order to assume
jurisdiction to consider the dispute, to decide whether the dispute as described
by the individual respondents as it stands, could sustain a finding of an unfair
labour practice, if found to be true. It was not necessary to decide whether
this described case was true or not, where it came to assuming jurisdiction.
This was properly appreciated by Lallie J in her earlierjudgment, as well.

If, and at the end of the matter, the applicant’s defences are sustarned that
would mean that the individual respondents would. not be able to establtsh the

existence of the unfair labour practice on the. basus*thatt :y‘had brought it,

and the case would fail. But this has n

applicant’'s review ground relating to the nature of 3he dlspute and the lack of
jurlsdictron of the CCMA relatlng to the same therefere has no merit, and falls

de\ sion, by the second respondent that no
condonation was requrred when the individual respondents referred the
dispute to the CCMA on 4 Mart:h 2011 Central to any determination in this
regard can, only be determ "ln'g the date when the unfair labour practice
dlspute arose In terms of Section 191{(1)b)(ii) of the LRA, a dispute
concernrng an unfalr labour practice must be referred to the CCMA or

bargalnlng councrl as the case may be, within 80 days of the date of the act or

[56]

: omrssron whrch allegedly constitutes the unfair labour practice or, if it is a later

date W|thrn 90 days of the date on which the employee became aware of the
act or occurrence It is clear that this definition, as it stands, requires and act
or omission by the employer, or an actuai ocurrence.

Considering the case brought by the individual respondents, as dealt with
above, it is premised firstly on a promise. This promise was that they would
be promoted by April 2010. It is thus not about when the promise was made.
It is about when the promotion was promised to be effected. That being the
case, and if the individual respondents were not promoted by April 2010, that
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would be the omission constituting the unfair labour practice, and thus the date
of the dispute. Insofar as the second respondent did not accept that this was

the case, such a finding would clearly be wrong.

The other part of the case of the individual respondents was that they were
always fulfilling the work and duties of an Inspector, graded at T1-2. If that is
the case, can it then be legitimately argued that the unfair labour practice is
one that resurrects itself on a month to month basis, until ultimately referred as
a dispute to the CCMA? This is the kind of approach ascrsbed to by the
second respondent, and seemed to be based on the Judgment in SABC Ltd v
CCMA and Others®™. The Court in that case was deélmg wrth dlscnmmation
and continuing discrimination that persisted on a“ mo\t \to‘”" yonth baSIS The
Court said:*® %,

bonus this could pos{gl ‘y‘ constltute a smgie act of unfair labour practice or

unfair dlscnmmat:on ' cause I:ke a dlsmlssal the unfair labour practice

commences and ends ata ‘gwen t!me But, where an employer decides to pay

its employees who are ,%lrh‘ﬂariy qualtfled with similar experience performing
similar dutles dlfferent wages based on race or any other arbitrary grounds,
then notwathstandmg the fact that the employer implemented the differential on

a pargcular date the discrimination is continual and repetitive. The

B dlscnmmatmn in the Tatter case, has no end and is, therefore, ongoing and will
"'-only termlnate when the employer stops implementing the different wages.
‘tEach tlme the employer pays one of its employees more than the other he is

ew__pcmg continued discrimination ...

It mtjst:-however be considered that in SABC, the Court was specifically
referring to an instance of differentiation based on arbitrary behaviour by an
employer. However, unfair labour practices founded on differentiation is
seldom founded on arbitrary behaviour. For example, surely it cannot be said
where an employer promotes some employees but not others that should aiso
have been promoted, but not based on arbitrary grounds, that employer on a
month to month basis until the dispute is one day referred to the CCMA

35 - [2010] 3 BLLR 251 (LAC).
*1gat para 27.
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commits a continuous unfair fabour practice towards the employee concerned
that was not promoted. This was in fact considered by the Court in City of
Johannesburg v South African Local Government Bargaining Council and

Others® where it was held:

‘It was submitted on behalf of the third respondent that the nature of the
dispute was continuous, one akin to a discrimination dispute and that since it
continued well into 2009 (and indeed to the date of referral), the referral was
not late. | have difficulty appreciating the logic of this suﬁmlss;on | see no
reason why a demotion does not fall into the same ca 'gory as a dispute
concerning a dismissal or any other disciplinary penalty,=. both of wh:ch are the
subject of strict time limits which run from the date o(theb mployer’s actions,.

Of course, an act of demotion has consequfnces ln the form of: a d:mmutlon of
status perhaps, and those consequences. m§ v-well be: ‘on gémg But it is not so

as it necessarily is in the case of an act of \_nfalr dlSC-:' imination, where the

unfair act complained of 1s contmf.'ous unin rrupted or repeated. For

example, in a claim for equal pay, the fact hat the employer continues each
o dlscrlmlnatory grounds, has the

month to pay a lowe
resuit that the act of d

continuous in the same Sen

tlination |§cont|n”ijous But an act of demotion is not
This much is acknowledged by the wording of s
191 (1) (b) u) whlch requlre a reférral within 90 days ‘of the date of the act or
om:ss.ron whtch al!egediy constltutes an unfair labour practice or, if it is a later

date, w.-thm 90 days | the. date on which the employee became aware of the
act or. occurrence The case in which the third respondent relies in support of

< |ts submlss:on, SABC Ltd v CCMA & others [2010] 3 BLLR 251 (LAC),
k "-~é:supports this’ anaIyS|s That was a case that concerned unfair discrimination in
ri"""-rthe form ‘of continuous conduct rather than a single act. Not only is it
dlstlngwshable on that basis, but the court drew a clear distinction between
ongomg unfair labour practices (unequal pay) and ‘one-off’ decisions or single
“acts that are not repetitive in nature. Were an act of demotion (or dismissal or
the issuing of a final warning for a 12 month period) to be regarded as
continuous for the purposes of s 191, that would make a mockery of the time
limits imposed by the section. An employee need only allege that he or she
continues to suffer the consequences of dismissal, some lesser disciplinary

measure or demotion to avoid the prescribed time limits altogether.’

¥ (JR3204/10) [2014] ZALCJHB 68 (10 February 2014) at para 11.
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I consider the above reasoning in City of Johannesburg v South African Local
Government Bargaining Council and Others to be sound, and equally
applicable to an unfair labour practice based on promotion. The ratio in SABC
is clearly distinguishable. The point can be illustrated by way of a simple
example. Two employees apply for a promoted position and one employee is
promoted whilst the other is not. Accepting that the decision not to promote
the one employee is unfair, does this now mean that that every month after
that decision was taken the employer commits a continuous unfair labour
practice because the employee does not occupy the promot’éd position and is
paid less? Surely not. This would render the 90 day tlme |!ﬁ’1lt under Section

191(1)(b)ii) completely valueless. The employee' ni“flln effect: do nothlng

v

disputes.® | accept that one must. tre%t a fa| u o-é..promote for example

based on race differently, but that; ,;rvould be;because the cause of action is

founded on dlscnminatlon _and notian unfa bour practice per se, with

fferent level of centlnuous protection.

discrimination requiring a

Another comparable examp?e can be found in South African Post Office Ltd v
Commission for Concmatton Med:at!on and Arbitration and Others™. In that
case, the empioyer stopped pay:ng the employee an acting allowance, but the
employee only pursued the dispute as an unfair labour practice to the CCMA
mere thanf‘:f fur years Iater contending that the dispute had been ongoing

because of a pend!ng grievance. The Court did not accept this contention and

':"’-._Jh_eld thag.the dlspute was pursued late.

[61]

Coﬁ"sig_ei‘in:g then the unfair labour practice case of the individual respondents,
there a're two possible dates that could the date when the dispute arose in this
instance. The first would be the date by when the applicant promised the
promotion to be effected, which would be end April 2010. The second would

% See Billiton Aluminium SA Ltd t/a Hillside Aluminium v Khanyile and Others (2010} 31 ILJ 273 (CC)
at para 46; Strategic Liquor Services v Mvumbi NQ and Others (2009} 30 ILJ 1526 (CC) at paras 12 -
13; Khumalo and Another v Member of the Executive Council for Education: KwaZufu-Nafal (2014) 35
ILJS 613 (CC) at para 42; Aviation Union of SA and Another v SA Airways (Pty) Ltd and Others (2011)
32 ILJ 2861 (CC) at para 76; SA Municipal Workers Union on behalf of Manentza v Ngwathe Local
Municipality and Others (2015) 36 ILJ 2581 (LAC) at paras 47.

*12012] 11 BLLR 1183 (LC) at paras 33 — 35.
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in effect be the date each of the individual respondents were appointed as
Assistant Officer Investigation at level T9, because, according to them, they
should have been appointed as Inspector at level T12 because they had been
fulfilling the duties, work and functions of a level T12 inspector from the start.
These dates would respectively be 3 December 2007, 1 July 2008, 1 January
2009, 1 March 2009, 14 December 2009 and 1 June 2010.

There is therefore simply nothing ongoing in the unfair labour practice dispute
of the individual respondents. There are two clear omussuons -on the part of the
applicant as employer, each on a specific date, which could constltute the date
of the dispute in this case. The first would be end Apnl 2010 and the second
the date of appointment of each of the individual resp\éinden)tsﬁ_ Elther way, any
unfair labour practice dispute referred to the CCMA on f‘Mérc“h 2011, would
be referred outside the 90 day time limit underisa@ t{on 191(1 )?b)(n) of the LRA.

This means that the dispute was referre  late, th@t the lndlwdual respondents

did have to seek condonation, and the second respondent s decision that this

;,
Ty

was not the case is clearly wrong.

Because condonation . w:':\"s ell:‘"“ ed, ; f)’i"c"n':ia'gr application for condonation
needed to have been made fo the GCMA to have jurisdiction to entertain the
dispute of the |nd|V|duaE respondents In Member of the Executive Council,
Department of Sport Recreat:on Arts and Culture, Eastern Cape v General
Public Serwce Sectoral Bargammg Council and Others™ the Court said:

‘s

ER | is:ééfﬁm?"')'h‘_cé'ﬁé‘é 'ihat there was no application for condonation.
'"’-{_h_e”b}"b'vi‘si'c'ihs of the Act are clear and there can be no doubt that this matter

wé"s_r_l referred late and that condonation was to be applied for.

Without an application for condonation and without condonation being
granted, the matter was not properly before the arbitrator and he had no

jurisdiction to arbitrate the dispute.’

This only leaves one final issue for consideration. Does the certificate of
failure to settle issued by the CCMA in March 2011 make any difference? This

question must be answered because of the judgment in Fidelity Guards

0 [2015] 12 BLLR 1224 (LC) at paras 40 — 42.
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Holdings (Pty) Ltd v Epstein NO and Others*, which determined that once a
certificate of failure to settle has been issued by the CCMA, the late referral of
the dispute to conciliation cannot be competently considered in deciding
whether the CCMA has jurisdiction to arbitrate the matter, unless the
certificate of failure to settle is challenged on review, and set aside*>. The
ratio in this judgment has been applied ever since, and if this ratio is applied in
casu, then the late referral of the dispute by the individual respondents to the
CCMA for conciliation in the first place, because of the certificate of failure to
settle issued, would not be a competent consideration in d(—;gjéing jurisdiction.

The judgment in Fidelity Guards was specifically conf:ered by the LACin SA
Municipal Workers Union on behalf of Manentza v Ngwathe Local Mumc:pahty

and Others® and the Court said

. the court then {;‘errone usiy, proceeded to link the setting aside of the
certificate of outc\ome to the ;unsdlctaon of the CCMA or bargaining council to

arbltrate an: unfalr dlsmtssai dlspute As alluded to above, the jurisdiction of

the CCMA or bargamlng councﬂ to arbitrate an unfair dismissal or unfair labour

practlce d|spute is not conditional upon the issue of a certificate of outcome,

fj."frong_ the Qate on which the CCMA or bargaining council received the referral,

':"'a__nd’iﬁ”e dlspute remains unresolved.

“_Whilst the issue of a certificate of outcome by a commissioner of the CCMA or
.Bergaining council may found the right of referral of an unfair dismissal or
unfair labour practice dispute to arbitration or adjudication prior to the lapse of
the 30-day period contemplated in s 191(5) of the LRA, as the right of referral
accrues on the issue of such certificate and is, consequently, a prerequisite for
a referral to arbitration or adjudication in those circumstances only, the

subsection does not impose an obligation on a commissioner of the CCMA or

a1 + (2000) 21 /LJ 2382 (LAC).
See paras 11 — 12 of the judgment.
3 (2015) 36 ILJ 2581 (LAC) at paras 42 — 43.
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a bargaining council to issue a certificate of outcome on the lapse of 30 days
from the date on which the CCMA or bargaining council received the referral,
and the dispute remains unresolved. Since the issue of a certificate of non-
resolution by the CCMA or a bargaining council concerned is not a
prerequisite for a referral to arbitration in terms of s 191(5)(a) of the LRA, it
cannot, in my view, cure the lack of jurisdiction of the CCMA or a bargaining
council to arbitrate an unresolved unfair dismissal or unfair labour practice
dispute, where such certificate is issued after the elapse of 30 days from the
date on which the CCMA or bargaining council received the referral, and the
employee has not sought condonation for his or her no '“’::febservance of that

timeframe.’

The judgment in Manentza thus disposes of the rat:o fn y dehty Guards The

certificate of failure to settle issued in casu canhot save the individual
respondents from the obligation to have: ‘applie d"

Eo1

place. The late referral of the disp e io the C =ﬂMA' for: eonc:llatlon remains

or condonation in the first

very much a live issue which needs to be consadered in deciding whether the
CCMA had jurisdiction to arbitrate the dtSpute of the dlndlwduai respondents. In

abour pra“”’ctlce dnspute the Court in City of
f:.;

the context of an unfaif

’kt'

Johannesburg v South Afrlca

ocal Govemment Bargaining Council and
Others* said:

!n South Afrlcan Post @fﬁce Ltd v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and
Arbltrat:on and others [2012] 11 BLLR 1183 (LC), this court held that it was
- competent for a party to seek to review and arbitration award relating to an
""’unfalr Pabour practlce dispute for lack of jurisdiction, even though the certificate
""'ﬁgf gutcome issued at the end of the congiliation phase had not been set aside
on '_reviev'v. In that case, the court reaffirmed the principle that the late referral

., of e"dispute without any application for condonation deprived the CCMA of

jurisdiction to entertain the dispute at arbitration.’

In all of the above circumstances, it is my view that the applicant’s complaint to
the effect that the individual respondents’ dispute was referred to the CCMA
outside the time limit in terms of Section 191(1) of the LRA, and that without
condonation being sought in granted in such circumstances the CCMA would
have no jurisdiction, has merit. The dispute was indeed referred late to the

* (supra) at para 9.
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CCMA by the individual respondents. It is common cause that condonation
was not applied for. As a result, the CCMA had no jurisdiction to consider the
dispute. The second respondent’s determination to the contrary is wrong, and
because this is an issue of jurisdiction, this wrong determination falls to be

reviewed and set aside.

My finding in this respect should be the end of the matter for the individual
respondents. But | will nonetheless foliow the same approach as that which
the Court followed in Member of the Executive Council, Qeﬁ%ﬁment of Sport,
Recreation, Arts and Culture, Eastern Cape v General Pﬁbtherwce Sectoral

Bargaining Council and Others*, and still decide th 'k ments of the appllcatton
for review and the grounds for review raised by thé ap\ﬁicant in respect of the

unfair labour practice determination of the thlrd respondent, on the merits.

(69]

Turning then the arbitration award o{the thlrd? res‘i;ondent in finding that the

applicant had commlttedt"::"in""' nfair Iab pract:ce towards the individual

rd was founded on a number of reasons.

respondents, his finding.in fhi
The third respondent a‘t:cep ed that Koti had promised the individual
respondents T12 pos tlons and that the individual respondents had been
doing T9 and T11 work from the outset. The third respondent was critical of
the fact that Kots was not called by the applicant to testify. According to the
thlrd respondent and as a result of all of the aforesaid, this satisfied the
reqmrements ‘of a ‘tegltlmate expectation’ to a T12 position on the part of the

i ,_ |nd|vadqe{;-respo_ndents, and thus the failure to promote them was unfair.

[70]

The th__ird tespondent also found in favour of the individual respondents on the
basis ot inconsistency. According to the third respondent, the applicant did not
always follow its own recruitment and selection procedure, with specific
reference to what the third respondent called the “HR employees’, who
according to the third respondent were moved from T5 to T6 and from T6 to
T8 without following recruitment procedures. Also, and according to the third
respondent, some of these HR employees did not meet the minimum

* (supra) at para 45.




[71]

[72]

[73]

29

requirements for the positons, but were nonetheless promoted. This rendered
what happened to the individual respondents unfair, according to the third

respondent.

Finally, the third respondent, accepted that the T12 positions did not exist in
the structure, but held that a new organogram was introduced in 2015 which
phased out the T9 and T11 position and implemented a T12 position.
According to the third respondent, it would be unfair to require the individual
respondents to do T9 and T11 work, and then not place then in T12. The third
respondent was of the view that the individual respondents were entitled to

reject the T10 placement because it was a demotion,

The applicant took issue with the above reasoning‘o ._th ‘thtrd respondent in

the founding affidavit, on a number of grounds cordrng to the applicant, the
third respondent’s award meant that the appllcant wouid be compelled to
regrade the positons of the mdlvrdu'el respondents wathout positons being
available or even existing. The * appllcant atso contended that the third

respondent misconstrued the' evrdence by d ldlng the matter on the basis of

a structure that did not: exts ) dld not pprecaate that the positions of the

individual respondents dld contlnue {6 exist as a T10 position. The applicant
complained that the ; ndwthal respondents did not meet the minimum
quahflcatlon fer the approved lnspector T12 position, and it was irregular for

the thlrg resgonde,_nt to sn\effect appoint them in these positions despite this.

In the supplementary aﬁrdavut the applicant then added a number of further
grounds of revrew ‘which grounds, as a general proposition, all relate to crucial

" ""=ewdent|ary material not considered or misconstrued by the third respondent,

resul_tlng:;n an outcome which cannot be considered to be reasonable. This
includéd the following: (1) Any change in job grading could only be done by
the job evaluation committee and then must be approved by the general
manager of the division; (2) the number of actual inspector T12 positons in the
new structure still had to be debated and approved by all stakeholders in the
DGF, which did not happen; (3) the union, including NUM, actually agreed to
the positons of the individual respondents being graded at T10: (4) the grading
and filling of positions always had to comply with the applicant’s policies and
procedures; (5) Mkosana in fact followed these policies, applied for a 712
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position, and was then promoted into that position; (6) Employment equity
policies had to be considered; (7) the fact that an employee may be doing
additional work or work of another grade does not lead to the employee being
placed at a higher grade; and (8) Koti was never in a position to have made a

promise and authorized a promotion.

In the supplementary affidavit, the applicant also takes issue with the
inconsistency findings of the third respondent. The applicant again contends
that the third respondent failed to consider and ignored metenal evidence and
made material errors of law where it came to the |nconSIstency fmdmgs in the
following respects: (1) The case of the individual respondents and that of the
abie (2) ‘the HR
Qlacem nt was for legitimate

other employees referred to were entlrely dlstmgus

employees’ positions were redundant and the

operational reasons which permitted, in terms- of ‘h 'appllca t's‘own policies, a
departure from the normai recruitment and selectlon precess (3) one of the
HR employees were in fact not plaéed beca“use the employee did not have the
minimum qualification for the _:_posmon and (4) the two individual respondents

that were promoted to T pd%;tlons actually apphed for these positons and

were appointed foliowmg -a

opeﬁg{:f application of the processes in the

applicant.

i ‘i,:’\ v\i
ConSIderlng the review, grounds of the applicant, it is convenient to start with a

reference to:Sect;on 186(2)(a) of the LRA, which reads:

."Unfair Iabour practlce means any unfair act or omission that arises between
"';an employer and an employee involving — (a) unfair conduct by the employer
re[etlng 6 the promotion, demotion, probation or training of an employee or

- re_l_eﬁing to the provision of benefits to an employee.'

It is trite that as the proceedings are unfair labour practice proceedings, the
individual respondents have the onus in establishing the existence of an unfair
labour practice.®® In Department of Justice v Commission for Conciliation,
Mediation and Arbitration and Others,*" the Court said:

*® See National Education, Health and Allied Workers® Union obo Manyana and Another v Masege NO
and Others [2016] JOL 35711 (LC) at para 46; Cily of Cape Town v SA Municipal Workers Union on
behalf of Sylvester and Others (2013) 34 ILJ 1156 (LC) at para 19; National Commissioner of the SA
Police Service v Basson and Others (2006) 27 ILJ 614 (LC) at para 7; Trade and Investment SA




[77]

31

‘.... An employee who complains that the employer's decision or conduct in
not appointing him constitutes an unfair labour practice must first establish the
existence of such decision or conduct. If that decision or conduct is not
established, that is the end of the matter. If that decision or conduct is proved,
the enquiry into whether the conduct was unfair can then follow. This is not
one of those cases such as disputes relating to unfair discrimination and
disputes relating to freedom of association where if the employee proves the
conduct complained of, the legislation then requires the employer to prove that
such conduct was fair or lawful and, if he cannot prove Jj;.hat, unfairness is
se legislation has

established. In cases where that is intended to be the
said so clearly. In respect of item 2(1)(b) matters _the Act does not say so

because it was not intended to be so.'

It is not necessary that an employee party seeklng %ﬁaﬁei ypc;h an unfair

to that promotion

labour practice relating to promotion mtfst show,that,a rlg}j
that such a. lght to promotion indeed

exists. Of course, if it can be shown'
exists and was infringed upon, an jnfalr Iabour pract:ce claim should succeed.
But even if that apphcant in: the unfélr Iabour practlce dispute relating to a

promotion cannot show. thét a nght exists e"faliure to promote, even in the

absence of such a. nght can “.Stlll ‘:'unfalr As the Court said in Apolio Tyres

SA (Pty) Lid *v Comm:ssmn for Conc;l:atlon Mediation and Arbitration and

< An %employee who wants to use the unfair labour practice jurisdiction in s
S 186(2)(a) retatmg to promot:on or training does not have to show that he or
n'::_}'shg has a r!ght to promotion or training in order to have a remedy when the

."¥§|i_n_1‘ia'ss _,p?’:'the employer's conduct relating to such promotion (or non-

pfbmotion ) or training is challenged...’

What an applicant in an unfair labour practice dispute relating to promotion
thus has to show, in the absence of a right to promotion being established, is
that the conduct of the employer in failing to promote the employee,

considered overall, was unfair.

(Association Incorporated Under Section 21) and Another v General Public Sector Bargaining Council
and Others (2005) 26 ILJ 550 (LC) at para 17,

(2004) 25 ILJ 248 (LAC) at para 73.

(2013) 34 ILJ 1120 {(LAC) at para 51.
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When deciding what constitutes unfair conduct in the context of promotions,
the issue of management prerogative remains of critical importance. In
Provincial Administration Western Cape (Department of Heaith and Social
Services) v Bikwani and Others,*® it was held as follows:

‘There is considerable judicial authority supporting the principle that courts and
adjudicators will be reluctant, in the absence of good cause clearly shown, to
interfere with the managerial prerogative of employers in the employment
selection and appointment process.

So too in George v Liberty Life Association of Africa Ltd (1 996) 17 ILJ 571 (IC)
the Industrial Court held that an employer has a prérogatlve or wade discretion

as to whom he or she will promote or transfer to Jnother’posmon Courts

should be careful not to intervene too readlly in dlsputes egardmg promotion

and should regard this an area where

anagerlal prerobatlves should be

respected unless bad faith or mprgper Enlel such ;s discrimination are

present.’

| the ?\‘/idence was in, and in terms of
Jlse brought to the CCMA, undeniable that
the individual respoqdents h 2d no. nght to be promoted to Inspector T12. This

In this instance, it was ultlmateiy,

the individual respondents o_

was never a case, of them havmg <been actually graded as Inspector T12,
being entltled to be so appomted and then not being appointed by the
apphcant The mdlwduaY respondents case is squarely one that the applicant
acted unfalriy in- not promotlng them, for the two reasons mentioned above.
So ln short dld the individual respondents succeed in proving that because of

- the pro__ml_se made to them by Koti and the fact that they had always been

[79]

'doi_ng Iﬁépector T12 duties, it was unfair not to promote them to inspector T12,

in the face of all else?

In answering this question, | must from the outset say that the manner in which
the third respondent determined the testimony presented to him was entirely
unsatisfactory, to the extent of being grossly irreguiar. In particular, the third
respondent completely failed to assess and determine the credibility of the
three individual respondents that testified before him, despite this being

*(2002) 23 ILJ 761 (LC) at paras 29 — 30. See also National Education, Health and Allied Workers'
Union obo Manyana and Another v Masege NO and Others (supra) at para 47.
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pertinently raised by the applicant. It was essential for the third respondent to
have made credibility findings.”® As was said in Sasol Mining (Pty) Ltd v
Ngqgeleni NO and others™":

‘One of the commissioner's prime functions was to ascertain the truth as to the
conflicting versions before him. The commissioner was obliged at least to
make some attempt to assess the credibility of each of the witnesses and to
make some observation on their demeanour. He ought also to have

considered the prospects of any partiality, prejudice or self-interest on their

part, and determined the credit to be given to the testimon of each witness by
reason of its inherent probability or |mprobabrhty He ought then to have

considered the probability or improbability of each partys versron The

commissioner manifestly failed to resolve the fac V_al‘d pute: before him on
this basis. ...’ «

[80] The three individuatl respondents that festlfled Were :Mkosana Gwana and
Madikizela. If one considers each of their ré pectlv testimonies, as apparent

from the transcripts, genume concern;as to thei dibility follows. Mkosana,

when testifying under ¢ S egtammatlon was overall extremely evasive.

Mkosana often r¢.=zfusec§'@'i

ahs Wer: direct questions, especially when being
confronted with questlons about the structure the application of the applicant’s
policies, and whether itV was in fact competent to be appointed without meeting
the m;nlmum requ:rem" nts of the position. Mkosana contradicted himself on

\s'- 'and \FVas generally argumentative where it came to what

was contamed in the documentary evidence, which he could not explain,
espemally about whether the T12 positions existed in the structure. In certain

;. T

* In SFW Group Ltd and Another v Martell et Cie and Others 2003 (1) SA 11 (SCA) at para 5 it was
said: *...To come to ‘a-conclusion on the disputed issues a court must make findings on (a) the
cred:bmty of the various factual witnesses; (b} their reliability; and (c) the probabilities...’

*1(2011) 32 ILJ 723 (LC) at para 7; Coega Development Corporation (Pty) Ltd v Commrssron for
Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and Others (2016) 37 ILJ 923 (LC) at para 63; Sofidarity on
behalf of Van Zyl v Komg Services (Piy) Ltd and Others (2014) 35 ILJ 1656 {LC) at para 8. In SFW
Group (supra) at para 5, the Court said the following as to how to assess credibility; *...the court's
finding on the credibility of a particular witness will depend on its impression about the veracity of the
witness. That in turn will depend on a variety of subsidiary factors, not necessarily in order of
importance, such as (i) the witness' candour and demeanour in the witness-box, (ii) his bias, latent and
blatant, (iii) internal contradictions in his evidence, {iv) external contradictions with what was pleaded
or put on his behaif..., (v) the probability or improbability of particular aspects of his version, (vi) the
calibre and cogency of his performance compared to that of other witnesses testifying about the same
incident or events. ...a witness' refiability will depend, apart from the other factors mentioned under (a)
(i), (iv) and (v} above, on (i) the opportunities he had to experience or observe the event in question
and (i) the quality, integrity and independence of his recall thereof. ..." (see also National Union of
Mineworkers and Another v Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and Others (2015)
36 /LJ 2038 (LAC) at para 14).
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instances, Mkosana even refused to answer pertinent questions. Mkosana

was not a credible witness.

Where it came to the testimony of Gwana, he similarly fared poorly. When
confronted with direct and pertinent questions about what had actually been
decided by the DGF, he became argumentative and evasive and simply did
not answer that which was put to him. A number of concessions had to be
drawn out of him in cross examination, only when such concessions were
really inevitable. Gwana was particularly evasive and argzumentatlve where it
came to the pertinent issue that no Investlgator posmons were ever

established in the Eastern Cape. Gwana would offen Iapse into fong

1
speeches without really answering questions asked espemaily where it came

to the application of the recruitment and selecﬁon pollc' ;_Gw na Was similarly

not a credible witness.

Finally, the same criticism can be ':;dlspensed cov;lcermng Madikizela as a
witness. He was equally evasive and argumentatlve about the application of
the applicant's policies, .and:.i i J '{he recruitment and selection
procedure. He in effett, ha swers to effective cross examination. On
occasion, Madlk:zeia even wen $0 far ‘as to seek to disavow what is contained
in minutes of the DGF meetmgs and related documents, despite not even
being present m the meetlngs nor involved in what is contained in the-
documents Madiklzela s ewdence must therefore also regarded as materially

Iacklng |n credlblilty

The testlmony of Mkosana Gwana and Madikizela were in my view clearly self

='-servmg They clearly adapted their evidence to support the case the individual

respondents sought to articulate in their referral to the CCMA. This being said,
and even worse still, Lawrence Mgendane (‘Mgendane’), the shop steward
that testified for the individual respondents, directly contradicted their evidence
in material respects, and in particular with regard to the fact that incumbents

'simpiy could not be appointed in positons if they did not meet the minimum

requirements for such positions, as well as the evidence relating to the
application of the applicant’'s policies. He actually confirmed that the T10
grading came about by agreement.
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The upshot of the above credibility findings is that any testimony by these
three witnesses, insofar as the same is advanced to contradict what is
contained in the policies of the applicant, and the DGF meeting minutes and
related documents, must be rejected. Further, and where this testimony is
sought to be applied to contradict what has been testified to by Davids and
Van Jaarsveld, who testified for the applicant, it had to have been rejected. In
failing to do so, the third respondent failed to reasonably and rationally
determine and consider the evidence, and as such commltted a gross and

reviewable irregularity.

S

On the proper evidence, the following facts are simpl,y;l'dh"dgniabkie:_w

{s] B
85.2 On their own version, they i%V-,:ere a!ways fulf_ !hng e same dutos. ac

from their respectwg dates of empioyment There was thus no change
ﬁme, throughout this matter.

in their duties, work [ unpt:ons at ;

85.3 The TASK gradmg also establlshed the positon of Security Inspector
(T12) m November__ 2009 Thls was a position distinct and separate
from Ass:stant"Offlcer !nvestlgatlon (T9). Both positions existed

u[taneo‘usly in ihe applicant, but not in the structure in the Eastern

ai;ﬂ:____Cape .DISfﬂbutIOI‘} division, where the individual respondents were '
\:'a.;“‘:employed Only the Assistant Officer Investigation (T9) existed in that

reglon ->

85.4 A COmpIete evaluation of the structures in the applicant took place in
2010. Insofar as it concerns the Eastern Cape Distribution division, a
structure was agreed to in December 2010 by all stakeholders,
including the unions, that the position of Security Inspector (T12) be
created in the structure, but this was not the position occupied by the
individual respondents. The positions of the individual respondents was
actually specifically dealt with, and it was agreed that these positions be
retitled Security Inspector and be graded at T10.
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86.5 The structure agreed to in the Eastern Cape Distribution division
needed to be approved by the Job Evailuation Committee and the
general manager. This would have happened, but for a moratorium that
imposed on implementation as a result of further restructuring in the
applicant, which only concluded in 2014. Accordingly, the structure as it

existed on 2009 continued to endure.

85.6 In January / February 2015, the new structure in the Eastern Cape
Distribution division was finally implemented, once _Aagain by way of

agreement with all the same stakeholders. The: posltton of Security
Investigator (T12) was once again |mplementéd m__the structure as a

position distinct and separate to that occf}ple the “individual

respondents.

85.7

grade T10. It was agreed by aII stakeholders that this implementation

newly gég eed stfucturegon the individual respondents, effective 1

.}anuary 201 5, but thiS ‘was declined by the individual respondents.

It was undlsputed that the applicant, at all times, had a number of specific
pohcxes m place reguiatmg instances such as these. These policies (and

. spemflcally the Pollcy) are referred to above, and specifically regulated the

[87]

nchangmg of structures in the applicant, the regarding of positons, and then the

selectlon of employees to be placed in regraded or created positions in a new
structure. The proper evidence was that these policies at all times were
indeed consistently applied in the applicant.

In terms of the Policy, referred to above, the grading of a position does not
entitle an employee to a position, even if that employee is currently in that
position. It is a specific requirement that the minimum qualification for the
position must be met, and that the position can only be filled by application of
the recruitment and selection policy / process, requiring, as a most basic level,
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advertising of the position, application for the position, and an interview
process. Further, any grading can only be done by the Job Evaluation
Committee, and must then be approved by the general manager of the
division. Insofar as these policy provisions are applied in this case, and again
on the undisputed facts, the only approved grading that happened where it
came to the positons of the individual respondents is to the level of T10, and

the applicant did seek to place them accordingly, which they refused.

It is equally important to consider how the grading actually ga_me about. It was
part of a new structure for the Eastern Cape Distribution --:division It was
debated and agreed to by all stakeholders in the BGF ‘(_whlch mcluded the

trade union and in particular NUM. The posts of. the gnd ldual respondents

were specifically dealt with in this process, and i

accepted and agreed, that these postsxwere a_w evel T10 gFurther still, this

even happened twice, the first tlme i 2010‘5" __hiCh waé not implemented

because of the moratorium, and t n agaln end 20“{_ / beginning 2015, when

the new structure was finally debated agreed and then implemented.

m the above co ext now it can be said that the

applicant acted unfaar!y towa-r)dsﬂ__herlndlwdual respondents. The fact that the
individual respondents may": dleagree with the grading attached to their
positions becéuse of: the nature;of the work and the duties they fulfilled simply
does net matter There was 'ho evidence by the individual respondents or

even any ’se _»hat the grading of T10 attached to their positons was

|mproperlyarnved at, wrong, or for example in breach of the applicant's
poluctes What matters beyond doubt, is that this grading was properly

' 'c_pn3|dered and debated by all stakeholders, agreed to, and then graded by

ttte‘:,,}_ot; »“'Evaluation Committee accordingly, leading to a grading of the
individual respondents’ positions at T10. Accordingly, the high water mark of
the individual respondents’ case is that they did not agree that their positions
were a T10 grade. Such disagreement simply cannot successfully found a

case of an unfair labour practice.

In giving evidence, Gwana in fact conceded that the individual respondents did
not agree with the grading done by the applicant. According to Gwana, they
disagreed with the grading, and it was up to the arbitrator to then do the proper
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grading in place of the applicant. Such an approach, as correctly pointed out
by the applicant, is entirely improper, and it is simply not competent for an
arbitrator to step into the shoes of the applicant, consider the positons of the
individual respondents, and conduct a grading exercise de novo. All that an
arbitrator can do is to assess what the applicant did where it came to such
positions, and then decide, based on the applicant's own actions and the
terms of its policies, whether such conduct was fair. In SA Police Service v
Safety and Security Sectoral Bargaining Council and Others®? the Court said:

. A commissioner or arbitrator is not the employer. It’f(ie*;not the task of the
commissioner or the arbitrator to decide who the best of most suitable
candidate is. The role of the commissioner is to, oversee that the employer did

not act unfairly towards the candidate who was n&t pro'

The Court in Arries v Commission for Conc"iltat'- n; Med: t'on\éand Arbitration

and Others®® said the following, wh!ch i agree wi nd whlch clearly indicates

the fallacy in the approach of the mduv;duaI respondents

‘As far as the apphcable taw is conce ne | believe that the commissioner

before him, namely in the first instance, as he

correctly approached the |
put it, treadmg wanly He i rt er-was correct in approaching the matter, in
essence, .on fhe basns of makmg a determination whether the third

respondent's refusa‘! to promote Ms Arries was: on the basis of its having

acted_‘on the basrs of some unacceptable, irrelevant or invidious comparison
on the*' art of the . thlrd respondent; or that its decision was arbitrary, or

_caprrcspus,“ oq :unfalr, or that they failed to apply their mind to the promotion of
Ms -Arrié’fs; or that the third respondent's decision not to promote Ms Arries was
motivated by bad faith; or that it was discriminatory.

A_Il'of these aspects which the commissioner clearly had in mind in reaching
his conclusion are in my view in essence a proper search by the commissioner
to determine whether the third respondent's discretion was exercised
capriciously, or for insubstantial reasons, or based upon any wrong principle

or in a biased manner.’

52 (2010) 31 ILJ 2711 {LC) at para 15.
% (2006) 27 ILJ 2324 (LC) at paras 47 — 48.
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In casu, and considering the facts as set out above, | have little doubt that
what the applicant did, overall, was fair. The third respondent failed to have
regard to any of this. The reasoning of the third respondent is entirely at odds
with ali of this clear evidence and ignores the undeniable policy provisions
always in place at the applicant. Considering all this evidence, the outcome
arrived at by the third respondent is unsustainable, on any ground, and thus

reviewable,

In addition to the above, the individual respondents face two further, and
insurmountable obstacles. Firstly, and when the Secunty Inspector T12
positions were approved in the new structure, these pes:tlons--were distinct

and separate from the positions occupied by the mdl 'dua ' esponaents The

actual positions of the individual respondents belng ,Aﬁlstant Officer

Investigations, were dealt with per se, aa;d |t_wa‘:'

de0|de tha? these positions

were forthwith Assistant Officer Security';{osntlon a‘f rad___:'T10 Accordingly,

and if the individual respondents énwsagéd bein piaced in the positons of

Security Inspector T12, this was a dlfferent and :n6W position to the one they

occupied, and surely they, sould .only be ‘dered for this by way of due and

'_n and reorwtment policy, which never

proper application of the S
happened. This* dlstmction 'the ‘third respondent completely failed to
appreciate. HIS awe??’d\ls couched in general terms, just referring to grades
T10 and T12 as if they Were the same positions. The third respondent
seemed to be entlrely obhvrous to the fact that these were two different
posmons ln the same “structure.  This failure on the part of the third
respondent i my wew has a direct and material impact on the outcome

‘arnved at rendermg it unreasonable.

[94]

Blj’c:g__ secbnd, and even more formidable obstacle, is the fact that as at the
date G&ihen this dispute was referred to the CCMA in 2011, there existed no
Inspector T12 position in the Eastern Cape Distribution division structure.
Also, and because of the moratorium referred to, the creation of the new
structure and the grading of posts had not been approved until end 2014, The
individual respondents simply cannot seek to be placed in a position that did
not exist, and was not approved, no matter what work they may have been
doing. The point is that although the Inspector T12 position was sought to be
created in the 2010 new structure, the moratorium came into place before
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implementation, which only lifted end 2014, and the status quo remained until
then. Then finally, and even in 2015, after the position of Inspector T12 has
been approved and implemented in the new structure in the Eastern Cape
Distribution division, the number of posts had stifl not been considered,
debated, or determined in the DGF, as required. It was up to the region itself
to decide the number of posts, and at the time when the matter was heard
before the third respondent, none of this happened. In Manyana®*, the Court
said:

‘Where it comes to considering whether the conduct of the thlrd respondent in

failing to approve the appointment of the :ndiv{ ua @i:appllcants into the
i

positions was unfair, the applicants' unfairness cmseﬁw@ sugmﬂcant difficulty,

from the outset. This difficulty is that when this matterz'

\éme'before the first
no appmntm‘ents in respect of

respondent, the positions were still vgacant an" _
such positions had been approved No actu appomtmght had been made by

the third respondent into these*"f osmons It may well Fhappen into the future

that the third respondent may fi T I these posltion and if that is the case, and
the two individual apgllcants are t \hen not appomted then they may well have
a case of unfair conauct o‘ he part ofthe third respondent, considering the
recommendatlons ahd report of: the interview panel. However, and as matters
stand, W|th no appomtments actuaily being made by the third respondent, a
moratorlum oh. appomtments contlnumg to exist, and with no established right
to be appo:nted the failure to appoint the individual applicants simply cannot

be consldered to be unfalr conduct by the third respondent.’

The Court in Mathlbel also dealt with a similar situation of an exercise which

'--‘:resulted in recommendatlons approved by the director-general to upgrade

several posts including the post of an employee which was to be upgraded
from grade 10 to 11, with a higher salary attached to the grade 11 post. But
the implementation of the upgrading were dependent upon ministerial
approval, and no evidence existed of a decision by the minister to approve and
implement the recommendations. The Court then accepted, despite finding
that there was a bungling of the upgrading exercise, the impression was
created by the exercise with employees that they would benefit and the
exercise was indeed implemented, and the failure to alert the employees that

(supra) at para 48.
® (supra) at para 4.
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the upgrading had been abandoned at the recommendation stage, could not
result in a right to achieve what the Court called a back-door promotion of a
possible incumbent of an upgraded post.55 The same considerations apply in

casu.

Even if it can be argued that because the post of Inspector T12 had, in
general, been graded and approved in November 2009, this was a post the
individual respondents could be placed in, the difficulty was that all three the
individual respondents that testified conceded that they/did not meet the
minimum requirement for the inspector T12 position. Thrs requrrement was a
three year B degree or related qualification. None of the other :ndrvrdual
respondents testified as to their qualifications. It htust thus be accepted that
réqurrement for the

the individual respondents did not meet the: mm:mu

iacement “sought by the

Accordingly, the applicant is correct in contendlng that what the individual
respondents wanted the thrrd respondent to dd_ and what the third respondent
then in fact did, was to place _‘f'he rndlwduel respondents in positions that
simply do not exist: as yet and for whrch they in any event did not qualify for.
This is simply, not: permrssrble and a gross misdirection on the part of the third
respondent havmg a drrect and materla! impact on the outcome in this matter,
rendenhg it unreasonable In simple terms, the third respondent pre-empted
what needed to str!i happen in the future. Assume the applicant did approve a

specrt‘ c number of Inspector T12 positions in the new structure, and then

sought-,_\_to_ plac_e persons in these positions without following its own policies,

'or,_ and i‘iv{_len doing the selection for the positions conducted the selection in
an dnfeir manner. in such instances, the individual respondents, if they did not
get the. Inspector T12 positions, would have a legitimate complaint of an unfair
labour practice. But, and as said, none of this was the case, and thus no
unfairness exists. In Department of Justice® the court said:

‘The PSA and Mr Bruwer accepted that the post had not been filed on a

permanent basis and conducted their case in the arbitration on that basis and

% ., See para 12 of the judgment.
(supra) at para 71.
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on the basis that Mr Bruwer could still be appointed to the post. In the light of
this the PSA and Mr Bruwer could only succeed in the arbitration if they
showed that it was of particular significance that Mr Bruwer be appointed at a
specific time (prior to 1 August 1997} and that, once he had not been
appointed at that particular time, the fact that he could still be appointed to the
post on a permanent basis later was either irrelevant or was not good enough
since the unfairness flowing from his non-appointment at a particular time

could not be undone if he was appointed later. The PSA and Mr Bruwer failed

to do so.’

And in Manyana®® the Court added:

such case. In faci"""the taty ) quo remalnéd for more than a year before the
individual appllcants took i Sye with their non-appointment, and this delay in
my wew wouid certamly dlspei any contention that an immediate appointment
at the time of recommendatlon was an imperative to ensure fairness. There
yvas s;mply nothmg before the first respondent to indicate that a failure to
appomt‘ the lndmdual applicants immediately in February/March 2009 was
‘ unfalr espemaliy consudermg that when the matter came before the first
:gresgpnd_ent, none of the posts in Johannesburg had been filed and the

foratorium still applied.”
The same considerations apply in casu.
[98] | next turn to the inconsistency issue. Again, the point of departure has to be

that the duty is on the individual respondents to establish the existence of
inconsistency.”® The case of the individual respondents in this regard related

(supra) at para 48.
* See Comed Health CC v National Bargaining Council for the Chemical Industry and Others (2012)
33 ILJ 623 (LC) at para 10; National Union of Mineworkers on behalf of Botsane v Anglo Platinum
Mine (Rustenburg Section) (2014} 35 ILJ 2406 (LAC) at para 39; Banda v General Public Service
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to the case of the HR employees that were upgraded to T8 and then placed in
the upgraded positions without the recruitment and selection policy being
applied. This case was accepted by the third respondent, who concluded that
as a result, it was unfair not to have done the same where it came to the

individual respondents.

[99] In the context of applying discipline, a number of principles apply where
inconsistency is considered, being: (1) Employees must be measured against
the same standards (like for like comparison); (2) Did the/g{mairperson of the
disciplinary enquiry conscientiously and honestly determ"i"e‘ the misconduct;

(3) The decision by the employer not to dismiss other employees involved in

the same misconduct must not be capricious, or mduced 'm_proper motives

or by a discriminating management policy (in ether word: t‘ms c&hduct must be

bona fide); and (4) A value judgment rr}ust ys be exgrmSed ® | see no

context of an unfair labour practlce dlsput"":i:but of course just with the

contextual changes that the references to. __mrseonduct and disciplinary process

topics as set out in_ Section 186(2)(51) of the LRA. In Manyana®' the Court

said:

_____ the mduwdual appilcants were in any event compelled to prove that the
appomtment of Sambo coupled with their non-appointment was based on
mala #i de caprlclous discriminatory or grossly irregular conduct by the third
respondent This was never proven by the individual applicants. The individual
applicants seem to say that simply because Sambo was appointed in a project
méheger position, advertised as part of the same basket of project manager

- positions the individual applicants also applied for and with the individual

Sectoral Bargaining Council and Others {2014] JOL 31486 (LC) at para 49; SA Municipal Workers
Union on behalf of Abrahams and Others v City Of Cape Town and Others (2011} 32 ILJ 3018 (LC)

ara 50
& See SA Commercial Catering and Allied Workers Union and Others v Irvin and Johnson Ltd (1999)
20 ILJ 2302 (LAC) at para 29; Absa Barik Ltd v Naidu (2015) 36 ILJ 602 (LAC) at paras 36 — 37;
Southern Sun Hotel Interests (Pty) Ltd v Commission for Concifiation, Mediation and Arbitration and
Others (2010) 31 ILJ 452 (LC) at para 10; Consani Engineering (Pty} Ltd v Commission for
Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and Others (2004) 25 ILJ 1707 (LC) at para 19; Chemical
Energy Paper Printing Wood and Allied Workers Union v National Bargaining Council for the Chemical
Industry and Others (2010) 31 ILJ 2836 (LAC) at para 21; SRV Mill Services (Pty) Ltd v Commission
for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration and Others (2004) 25 IL.J 135 (LC) at para 23.

(supra) at para 55.
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applicants not equally being so appointed, this is per se inconsistent conduct
justifying interference. This approach of the individual applicants is clearly
flawed. Mere differentiation does not establish inconsistency and more must

be shown to exist by the individual applicants to justify interference ...’

[100] In this instance, and applying these principles, any case of inconsistency is
entirely without substance. There simply exists no like for like comparison,
where it came to the issue of the HR employees. In fact, it was the individual
respondents’ own witness, Mgendane, the full time shop;’*-steward whose

testimony was the death knell to the inconsistency cases: Mgendane testified
that the regrading of the HR Employees came about as a result of a specific

collective agreement concluded with the appﬁcan' g beca_use cf certain

operational difficulties the appiicant. In short; these dlfflcult:es ‘arose due to

the appilcant simply having a drastic shortage:of R praetltloners Additional
f in the~ trUcture in the place of the

";5\ his ag{eed change in structure
resulted in the positions occupled b ,,the HR employees becoming redundant,
meaning that if they were. nct placed in ’chese newly established positions, they
could face retrenchment ThIS was specn‘lca y testified to by Davids as well as
Mgendane (as sald) Because ,he JHR employees were exposed then to
possibly Iosmg their Jdbs th;s changed the situation, as recognized in Police
and Prisons CMI nghts Umon and Others v Minister of Correctional Services

and Anotheiﬁ"’ where it was held:

_ Two conslderatlons arise from the above ratio in SA Police Service v
'A"Pubhc Servants Association. The first is that the functionary has a discretion.
Eve_;_n where a particular position has actually been upgraded, the functionary
i 'nct obliged to promote the incumbent who currently occupies the position
ﬂi:'nto the upgraded position. The second is that in exercieing the discretion, the
functionary must not place the incumbent in the position who is actually
performing satisfactory at the risk of losing his or her employment. Applying
this ratio to the current matter, it would not matter whether the job evaluation
panel in fact upgraded the positions of the individual applicants. It was still up
to the second respondent to exercise a discretion to give effect to the upgrade
or not, and even should the upgrade be approved, whether actually to place

% (2013) 34 ILJ 690 (LC) at para 28. The Court in the quoted dictum was referring to SA Police
Service v Public Servants Association (2006) 27 ILJ 2241 (CC) at para 35.
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the individual applicants in the upgraded positions. In exercising this
discretion, the second respondent will be guided by the consideration that no

job losses should be envisaged ...

Further, none of the individual respondents had any personal knowledge of
the events relating to the HR employees, and could not contradict any of the
above evidence relating to the clear distinction between the HR employees

and the case of individual respondents.

The applicant’s own policies specifically provide that in the‘case of legitimate
operational requirements, the recruitment and selectlon pollcy could be
departed from, if appropriate. This was indeed; such a ‘case What adds
impetus to this exception is the fact that an 1mmed|a}e op 'ratlonal need had to
be met, and this occurred with the actuai,;_l_(ag ement‘of IaQour by way of

collective agreement. This comptetely ?dlsttngwshe .the
employees from that of the ;nd:v;dual respondents l'n the case of the
individual respondents, their posﬂons remamed ‘unaffected in the new
structure, and even came. WIth a hlgher T1D grade. What the individual

respondents wanted was to bep Jaced in positions that were not approved, did

not exist, and which was centra to'the -actual structure agreed to with labour.

There is absolutely no compansen to what was the case with the HR

!’A
ks R

employees.

u(,

There IS ‘ano her lssue wh:ch completely disposes of any inconsistency
argument ";-.,_;ontrary to what the third respondent seemed to accept in his

award the placement of the HP employees as set out above always remained

| rs_ubject tp the éssential requirement that the minimum qualification for the new

[104]

pfisition _ﬁ'ad to be met. There was specific undisputed evidence presented
that one of these HR employees was indeed not appointed because she did
not meet the minimum qualifications. The third respondent completely

misconstrued the evidence, which did not support his conclusion at all.

Accordingly, and in accepting that inconsistency existed where it came to the
HR employees which caused the individual respondents to have been unfairly
treated, the third respondent completely misdirected himself, and ignored
pertinent evidence. He conducted no proper like for like comparison, and thus

misconstrued the legal principles where it comes to inconsistency issues. The
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third respondent’s determination of the existence of unfairness based on

inconsistency is unsustainable on any ground, and thus reviewable.

The fact that the individual respondents may have working above their pay
grade, so to speak, is of no consequence. But it interesting to consider part of
reasoning of the individual respondents in this respect, which found favour
with the third respondent. According to the individual respondents, they did
both T9 and T11 grade work, and this translated then into a T12 grade. This
makes no sense at all. It simply cannot be said that T9 plus T11 work equals
a T12 position. Van Jaarsveld explained that if one Jooks at a profile in
general of different grades of in essence the same core }ob there are

A7
comes |n where it

similarities in what is contained therein, but the dsffe\en

comes to the details and responsibilities, from gradé“*levei \to gfade level. He

explained, which was not contradlcteg that g(ade T11 Work cannot be
considered to be grade T12 work. - \ - f:

This only leaves the alleged premlse m‘“ade b{/ Koti for consideration.

Accepting it is true that Koﬂ mdeed made the prdmlse this cannot serve to

.....

contradict all that is set ou
not grading the mdgwdual resp : nts at grade, to be unfair. | add that Gwala
conceded under cross exammatlon that when they pushed Koti on the issue,
he spec:ﬂcally told them that he did not have the power to make such a
promotlon Con3|denng the c!ear policies of the applicant, known to all that
worked in the appllcant lt was simply unreasonable to have relied on any
promsse by Kotl The third respondent’s finding of what he called a ‘legitimate
expectatlon where it came to this is entirely irreguilar, and unreasonable. In
Duncan’ v Minister of Environmental Affairs and Tourism and Another®™ the

Court hgal_d as follows:

‘Reliance on the doctrine of legitimate expectation for any purpose

presupposes that the expectation qualifies as legitimate. The requirements for

the legitimacy of such expectation have been formulated thus:

{a) the representation inducing the expectation must be clear, unambiguous
and devoid of any relevant qualifications;

(b) the expectation must have been induced by the decision-maker;

% [2010] 2 All SA 462 (SCA) at para 15. See also Minister of Defence and Others v Dunn (2007) 28
ILJ 2223 (SCA) at para 32.
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(c) the expectation must be reasonable;
(d) the representation must be one which is competent and lawful for the

decision-maker to make ...’

In casu, and objectively, there is clearly nothing legitimate in the individual
respondents seeking to rely on the promise of Koti, if compared to all else. It
was undisputed that Koti was also not the decision maker where it came to
promoting the individual respondents, and never had the power to promote
them. Finally, any promotion would be subject to meeﬁihg the minimum
qualification for the positions, which the individual respondfe;n}té.fgid not have.

The third respondent’s reliance on what he saw as- a Ié‘gL\mate expeotatmn as
a result of the duties fulfilled by the individual. respondenis‘ nd ‘the promise
made by Koti was thus a fundamental gmlsdlrechon Legltimate expectation
cannot create a substantive right where none ex:sts_ “As: s}ald in Meyer v Iscor

Pension Fund®:

. in administrative Iaw the‘doctnne of Iegltlmate expectation has traditionally

P

j;-_introduce the requirements of procedural fairness

been utilized as a vehlcie )
and not as a baS|s to compe ,.a substantive result. According to the traditional
approach it matters not whether the expectation of a procedural benefit is
mduced by a promlse of the procedura! benefit itself or by a promise that some

substantlve beneflt WI" be acquired or retained. The expectation remains a

procedural one

There was no case ‘ever made out by the individual respondents in respect of

a faliure of process in this case.

Finailyi'l must also confess that | find it strange that three of the individual
respondents, being Mkosana, Madikizela and Alexander, would actually apply
for other T12 positions in terms of the applicant’s recruitment and selection
process, if they genuinely believed they were actually already in such
positions. Mkosana and Alexander had been successful and were placed in
such positions, in other regions. This adds to the consideration | have referred

to above, namely that the future was still uncertain and the individual

54 (2003) 24 ILJ 338 (SCA) 25. See also Apolio Tyres (supra) at para 39.
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respondents may well be promoted in due course, once the entire structure
has been finally implemented and then populated, and provided all policies
and processes have been complied with.

In summary, it is my view that the third respondent failed to consider material
evidence, and in essence relied on what was actually irrelevant evidence. On
the evidence, it is clear that conduct of the applicant simply did not constitute
an unfair labour practice. Also, the third respondent misconstrued the
applicable legal principles, especially where it comes to what constitutes an
unfair labour practice and the principles relating to mcons:stency These
failures by the third respondent clearly constitute gross wregularutnes ‘satisfying
the first leg of the review test. It is then further my vnew that in.the absence of
these irregularities, there is simply no basns on whlc;h ‘Etj\eﬁ”*awarva*’of the third
’:"-reasonable butc}me especially

respondent can be sustained as being-

considering the proper ewdence .as a whol nd the applicable legal

principles. | am satisfied that the outcome amved by the third respondent is

unreasonable, satisfying the second leg of th ‘féview test. The arbitration
award of the third respond nt thus falis to be. revuewed and set aside, where it

comes to the ments of hlS fmd: giof the eXIstence of an unfair labour practice.

.
%
“l

Therefore and for aII the reasons set out above, the arbitration award of the
th:rd responri nt’rn favour of the first respondents cannot stand, as it is simply
lrregular and an unreasonable outcome. This arbitration award has to be

revuewe,_{_;i_ and set aside, which | hereby do. Also, and as set out above, the

rd'eterminatjon of the second respondent that the dispute was referred in time
to the CCMA and that no condonation was required equally falls to be

reviewed and set aside, on the basis that it is clearly wrong.

This matter dates back to 2011, with a plethora of litigation in between. It is
essential that it now be finally brought to a conclusion, whether on the basis of
a lack of jurisdiction, or on the merits of the case. This must be so, especially

considering the essential requirement of expedition in employment law dispute
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resolution®. In terms of 145(4), this Court has the power to make any order it
considers to be appropriate, having reviewed and set aside an award of a
CCMA arbitrator. | therefore intend to substitute the arbitration award of both
the second and third respondents with a single award that the first
respondents’ referral of an unfair labour practice dispute to the CCMA be

dismissed.

This then only leaves the issue of costs. In terms of the provisions of Section
162(1) and (2) of the LRA, | have a wide discretion where it comes to the issue
of costs. Even though the applicant was successful, | do: not lntend to burden
the first respondents with a costs order, especially canIderlng fhe opportumty

afforded to me to bring this matter finally to an end Th still an .ongoing

employment relationship between the parties,<and | beilev tto be fair that all
pames now build this relatlonshlp gomg forwardy _|th a ciean slate. To mulch

In the premises, | make thg“fq;!_ie ing order:
1. The ‘apEljpant’s "Feyie\"iv'raﬁbiication is granted.
2. . The arbltration award of the second respondent, being arbitrator A

B _' Mare under case number ECEL 608 — 11 and dated 10 February 2015,

is rewew_ed and set aside.

3. | T__he*arbitration award of the third respondent, being arbitrator E Mquqo,
under case number ECEL 608 — 11 and dated 12 October 2015, is

reviewed and set aside.

4, Both arbitration awards reviewed and set aside in terms of paragraphs
2 and 3 of this order is substituted with a determination that the first
respondents’ referral of an unfair labour practice dispute to the fourth

respondent, is dismissed.

® See footnote 38 above.
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5. There is no order as to costs.
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